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OF FRANCE

Francois Gebelin

Translated by H. EATON HART

Francois Gebelin is one of the foremost
authorities on French chateaux. His
scholarly book traces their development
from the Roman fort, via the early
Norman castles of the Plantagenets, to
the elegant country mansions and pal-
aces for which France is so rightly re-
nowned. This development is related
throughout to the history of the periods
in question.

M. Gebelin is interested in every
aspect of the chateau’s design and con-
struction. And the reader will share his
enthusiasm as he explains the growing
sophistication of the defences of medi-
eval fortresses, or the changing taste in
decoration of the exquisitely propor-
tioned facades of the country houses.

Although the chateaux of the Loire
valley are, of course, fully described,
there” are many other provinces of
France whose chateaux are well worth
consideration. Over two hundred are
included in this book, which is illus-
trated with a superb series of some forty
photographs in color and black and
white.
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| LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

FRONTISPIECE

LE CHATEAU-GAILLARD. This aerial photograph gives a very compre-
hensive view of the fortress, which stands at the end of a promontory
overlooking the valley of the Seine and is accessible only from the
side from which the view was taken. The great tower, of which the
ruins are visible in the foreground, was the strongest point of the
outworks covering the castle on its most vulnerable side. A deep moat
separated these outworks from the castle itself. Note the chemise
around the keep, which is protected by a moat and is composed of a
scries of semicylindrical towers almost touching each other. Note also
the keep itself, with its massive plinth-like, battered base and its
buttresses surmounted by machicolations. (J. Roubier.)

Prate I
ANGERS, THE FIELD GATE. The castle was built during the minority
and the early years of the reign of Saint Louis. The masonry is of
black shale, quarried locally; a tough material but rather flat and
friable, which is reinforced by courses of calcareous tufa. The enceinte
is surrounded by a moat 100 feet wide, cut out of the rock in 1485.
(Danese-Rapho.) > Jacing p. 22

PraTe IT
THE keeP, LocHes. The keep, seen in the background, dates from
about 1100. New systems of defence were added during the twelfth
century to cover the approach to it. Along the moat cut through the
isthmus is a wall flanked by small round towers (in the foreground).
This wall was strengthened during the thirteenth century by massive
spur-shaped towers, one of which is seen in the foreground (right).
(Boudot-Lamotte.) Jacing p. 32

Prate ITI
THE kEEP, FAarase. This is one of those mentioned by Robert de
Torigni in 1123 as having been built by Henry I Beauclerc. The round
(‘Talbot’) tower on the right was in fact built by Phillip-Augustus
1207, but the machicolations above it date only from the sixteenth
century. (Boudot-Lamotte.) Sacing p. 33

PraTE IV
THE casTLE, LA Bripe. The walls form an irregular polygon and
were probably rebuilt on a much earlier plan at the beginning of the
fourteenth century. The only provision for flanking fire is from the
round tower shown on the right. The machicolations (if not the
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tower itself) date most probably from the beginning of the fifteenth
century. The small tower with a conical roof in the centre of the
building houses a spiral staircase. The low towers standing in the
water on the left cover a system of three drawbridges crossing the
moat. (Lapie. Photothéque francaise.) JSacing p. 48

PLAaTE V
THE casTLE, TarascoN. The castle, which is in a remarkable state of
preservation, is a quadrilateral flanked by four towers, of which the
two overlooking the Rhone are square, the other two (overlooking the
town), round. As at the Bastille, the top of the towers is at the same
level as the top of the curtains, thus allowing uninterrupted move-
ment along the wall-walk. The bailey-wall, with its two square towers,
can be seen on the right, beyond the bridge. (Photothéque francaise.)
facing p. 49
Prate VI
Azay-LE-RiDEAU. The photograph is taken from the south-east and
shows the southern facade overlooking the River Indre. It will beseen
that the middle bay of the facade has twice the width of the others,
the reason being that it houses the staircase. The right-hand turret
on the smaller (eastern) fagade is modern. (Giraudon.) facing p. 54

Prate VII
TreE xEEP, VINCENNES. The quadrilateral plan with round corner
towers denotes a reaction against the circular keeps introduced by
Phillip-Augustus. An interesting feature — and an innovation at that
time —is the double (superimposed) wall-walk, which was originally
crenellated. The wall-walk on the chemise has alternate square
openings and arrow-loops, and machicolations mounted on consoles
(all of which have been preserved). On the gatehouse, however, and
on the look-out towers at the corners the crenellations have dis-
appeared. (Ciccione-Rapho.) Sacing p. 64

PraTte VIII
Le Pressis-BourrE. Jean Bourré acquired the domain of ‘Plessis-
le-Vent’ on November 26th, 1462. The castle must have been nearing
completion on January 14th, 1472, when a contract was signed for the
glass required for the openings. The photograph shows the outer
fagade of the main building (which houses the living quarters) and
the keep at the south-east (right-hand) corner. (Boudot-Lamotte.)
Sacing p. 65
Prate IX
CHAMBORD, THE NORTH FAGADE. The distant view of Chambord as
one approaches it from the park is quite unforgettable. At the end
of the long central avenue the chateau gradually fills the scene until
at last the north facade appears in all its glory. In the centre is the
‘keep’, flanked by two massive towers and surmounted by the richly
decorated upper storeys. The wings to right and left are of later date,
and their style is more restrained. (Giraudon.) Sacing p. 70

Prate X
BoxacuiL. The photograph is taken from the west side of the castle.
The tall central building is the keep. Its northern (left-hand) portion
dates from the thirteenth century. During the fifteenth century the
southern portion (with machicolations) was added together with a
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tower housing the staircase. The curtain wall, which can be seen
enclosing the keep, was fortified by Bringon de Roquefeuil (1482-
1530). Three towers were added to the west side; the middle tower is
square, the corner towers round. The massive tower at the north west
(left-hand) corner is surmounted by ‘Breton’ machicolations in the
form of stepped inverted pyramids (an archaeological curiosity which
has aroused considerable discussion). Some time later Bringon de
Roquefeuil enclosed the castle within a second curtain wall on which
guns could be mounted. (Photothéque frangaise.) Jacing p. 8o

PraTe XI
JosseLiN. Olivier de Clisson had the castle rebuilt when he became
its owner in 1320. The view is of the fagade overlooking the River
Qut, which was mainly Olivier de Clisson’s work. But (like its con-
temporary the Bastille) the curtains at that time were much higher
than they are today. The castle was dismantled in 1488 by order of
Francgois, duc de Bretagne. A few years later Jean, duc de Rohan,
rebuilt the castle and turned it into a country seat, adding a pseudo-
wall-walk, ‘Breton’ machicolations, and the tall, two-storey dormers
above. (J. Roubier.) JSacing p. 81

Prate XII
CARROUGES, THE GATE-HOUSE. Carrouges, near Alengon (Orne) is a
large and rather incongruous structurc made up of buildings dating
from the fifteenth to the seventeenth centuries. Its most attractive
feature is the gatehouse, which stands alone at some distance from the
castle itself. On the dormer windows are the arms of Cardinal Jean
le Veneur, Bishop of Lisieux from 1505 to 1543. The building is square
and has a vast saddle-back roof and corner turrets. The masonry
is of red brick embellished with black brick lozenges in the style of the
Louis XII wing at Blois. The whole of the ornamentation — including
the pediments over the dormers —is Flamboyant Gothic. Although
dating from the reign of Louis XII it shows no indication whatever
of Renaissance influence. (J. Roubier.) Jacing p. 84

Prate XIII
Brois, CourtyArRD FagADE oF THE Francis I Wine. The photograph
clearly shows the contrast between the two parts of the fagade. The
great open staircase was added when the building was almost com-
pleted. (Roger Viollet.) Jacing p. 85

PraTe XIV
EcouEen. This aerial photograph shows clearly the bastioned plan of
the fausse-braie, which has survived intact on the south side of the
building. The part of it on the north side was, however, demolished
to make way for the great terrace just visible on the right of the
photograph. The porch in the centre of the north wing (on the right)
was a later addition by Jean Bullant. (Photothéque frangaise.)
JSacing p. 92
Prate XV
FonTtane-HENRI The original castle was rebuilt by Jean d’Harcourt,
its owner from 1496 to 1548. It comprises a main building and a large
pavilion at right angles to it. Its special interest lies in the diversity
of its styles. The right-hand part of the main building (including the
square staircase tower) is a good example of the opulent Flamboyant
style made fashionable by the redecoration of Amboise under Charles
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VIII. On the two left-hand bays of the main building and on the
adjoining fagade (at right-angles to it) of the large pavilion the Gothic
style has been replaced by Early French Renaissance in an almost
exact copy of Gaillon. A further transition is noticeable on the tall
dormer and on the west facade of the pavilion, which show a definite
Classical trend. (J. Roubier.) Sacing p. 93

PraTtE XVI

VALENGAY. In its present form the chiteau comprises two wings set at
right angles. The north wing dates from the sixteenth and the west
wing from the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. The north wing (in
the centre of the photograph) was almost certainly built by Jacques
d’Etampes, who married in 1540 and died in 1575. The main structure
of the west wing (just visible on the right) dates from the second
quarter of the seventeenth century; but it underwent considerable
alteration in 1770, when the second great tower was added at the
south corner (J. Roubier.) Jacing p. g6

PraTE XVII

Ancy-LE-Franc. The Courtyard. Ancy-le-Franc is the most out-
standing example in France of the Italian School. The treatment of
the facades on the courtyard is typical of the period. (J. Roubier.)

Jacing p. 97

PraTe XVIII

CHENONCEAUX. The photograph shows the successive stages in the
building of the castle. The ‘“Tour de Marques’ (extreme left) is all that
remains of the old feudal castle pulled down by Thomas Bohier when
he built his new home on the piles of the former tannery in the
Cher river. This new castle is seen with its four angle towers on the
left of the photograph. When Diane de Poitiers came into possession
of the property in the middle of the sixteenth century she built a
bridge connecting the castle with the left bank of the river. Many
years later, in 1580, Catherine de Médicis used the bridge to carry the
three-storey galleries shown in the centre and on the right of the
photograph. (Danése-Rapho.) Sacing p. 104

Prare XIX

JomviLLE, Le GRAND JARDIN. Le Grand Jardin is a country mansion
of moderate size, built by Claude de Guise in 1546, at the foot of the
old castle of Joinville. The Classical style was then making its first
appearance in France (notably at Saint Maur and Ancy-le-Franc).
Le Grand Jardin seems to show that its owner was anxious to keep
abreast of the times. (Boudot-Lamotte.) Sacing p. 112

Prate XX

ANET, THE DOME OF THE CHAPEL. The chapel was one of the few
buildings that survived the pillage of Anet by the Black Band. Itisa
small church on a symmetrical plan in the form of a Greek cross, with
cupola, and is an exact copy of Italian churches of the period. Its
appearance in France created a new style of religious architecture.
Philibert Delorme was very proud of his interior decoration of the
coffered dome with its interlacing curves and diminishing panels; he
refers to it in his Premier Tome de I’ Architecture (fol. 112). The pattern
on the dome is reproduced in the paving of the chapel. (Boudot-
Lamotte.) Sacing p. 113
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Prate XXI
CuanTILLY, LE CHATELET. Le Chatelet is the best surviving example
of French Classical architecture in its most lively form, characteristic
of the work of Philibert Delorme and Jean Bullant. (Boudot-Lamotte.)

JSacing p. 116

Prate XXII
ViziLrLe. The site was acquired by the Duc de Lesdiguiéres in 1611.
Work on the building began immediately afterwards and was com-
pleted in 1620. In the seventeenth century the two wings at right-
angles, comprising the present chiteau, were the rear portion of the
building. The court of honour was on the far side of the main building
(on the right of the photograph). The intersecting flights of steps
leading down to the water were not part of the original building;
they were added during the eighteenth century. (Goursat-Rapho.)
JSacing p. 117

Prate XXIII
BaLLErOY. Balleroy stands in an imposing setting of well-planned
grounds and fine gardens. A central avenue leads through an intricate
pattern of flower-beds to stables and a spacious courtyard lined by
the servants’ quarters and surrounded by a moat. A flight of eleven
steps leads from the courtyard up to a wide terrace in front of the
house. A small pavilion stands at each end of the terrace. (Boudot-
Lamotte.) Sacing p. 124

PraTe XXIV
CHEVERNY, THE FRONT FAGADE. Cheverny was built during the
second quarter of the seventeenth century by Henri Hurault, son of
Count Philippe de Cheverny, Chancellor of France. The house was
originally surrounded by a moat and enclosed by a court of honour.
Both have since disappeared. The stone facade shown on the photo-
graph originally overlooked the court of honour. (J. Roubier.)
Sacing p. 125

Prate XXV
Grossors. The photograph shows the entrance to the castle, which
has the traditional moat around it; but the courtyard is open in front,
the original front wing having been suppressed and replaced by a
simple balustrade. The two large pavilions to right and left of the
entrance are joined by low wings to the main building beyond. These
low, lateral wings are punctuated by alternating tall, round-arched
semi-dormers and small, rectangular windows; the pediments of the
semi-dormers are alternately triangular and round. (J. Roubier-
Rapho.) JSacing p. 130

Prate XXVI
FramanvirpLe. The two most characteristic features are on the fagade
overlooking the courtyard, as shown in the photograph. First, the
three central bays are surmounted by a massive curved pediment;
second, the lateral wings are formed by double pavilions of diminish-
ing width. Note also that the various parts of the building no longer
have separate roofs; they are joined one to the other by valley-
channels, and are all of the same height. This feature was a novelty
at the time, and is not found at Pont-en-Champagne, Blérancourt
or Cany. (Boudot-Lamotte.) Sacing p. 131
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PraTe XXVII
Tanvay. The photograph shows the court of honour, the main build-
ing beyond (with twin pilasters framing the windows) and the two
corner turrets surmounted by pointed domes. The courtyard has an
open front and a rather unusual monumental extrance. (Paul
Angoulvent.) Sacing p. 136

Prate XXVIII
MAISONS, THE ENTRANCE FAGADE. Maisons, one of the earliest build-
ings in the French Classical style, is considered to be Frangois
Mansart’s masterpiece. Although strictly conforming to the rules, the
architect is obviously in search of movement and pictorial effect.
(Rene-Jacques.) Sacing p. 142

Prate XXIX

LE CHAMP DE BATAILLE, CENTRAL PAVILION OF ONE OF THE WINGS.
The masonry of this most unusual chéteau is of brick and stone; but
the massive pavilions forming the central motifs of the two large
wings are built entirely in stone. M. Hautecoeur makes this comment:
“The pavilions, capped with dimes d l’impériale, the long balcony, the
columns and openings, the varying proportions of brick and stone all
scem like some rustic interpretation of the art of Francois le Vau.’

(Francois le Vau’s work had much in common with that of his elder
brother, Louis). (Boudot-Lamotte.) Sacing p. 143

Prate XXX
DAMPIERRE, THE GARDEN FACADE. The dignified simplicity of this
facade gives the impression that Francois Mansart was making a
demonstration of the new style — even more noticeably than on the
entrance side, which is built on a horseshoe plan. The only ornamenta-
tion 1s on the central frontispiece, which (like Maisons) is a doubly-
projecting feature; but it has only two orders of columns and no upper
storey dominating the fagade. (J. Roubier.) JSacing p. 148

Prate XXXI
OMmonviLLE. According to a report made by M. Lucien Prieur and
preserved in the archives of the Office of Historical Monuments,
Paris, Omonville was built in 1754 for the iron master, Robert-
Philibert Le Carpentier, by Chartier, an architect from Conches
(Eure). It is a good example of the restrained style of a Louis XV
chateau, with its convex lintels embellished with brace-ornaments
(except on the frontispiece of the ground floor, which have round-
arched openings). In style, however, it lacks some of the refinement of
contemporary chateaux built by Paris architects. The photograph
shows the front fagade, which is exactly similar to the fagade on the
garden side. The central portion of the fagade — both on the front and
on the garden — has an extra storey, which breaks the unity of the
roof. (Boudot-Lamotte.) Sacing p. 149

PLaTE XXXII
FontamneBLEau, Cour DE LA FonTaINE. The Fountain Courtyard,
which overlooks the lake and is the most attractive part of the palace,
dates, for the most part, from the sixteenth century. The large pavilion
at the south-west corner (left of photograph) was, however, built by
Ange-Jacques Gabriel in 1751. (J. Roubier-Rapho.)  facing p. 156
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Prate XXXIII
CompitGNE. This view is taken from the south and shows the court
of honour rebuilt on the site of an older (and much smaller) royal
castle. The double colonnade between the two pavilions at the
entrance dates only from Louis XVI. Gabriel by that time was in
retirement, but M. Hautecoeur points out that the wide spacing of the
columns is a proof that no alteration was made in Gabriel’s original
design. (Photothéque frangaise.) Jacing p. 157

Prate XXXIV
PeTiT TRIANON, LATERAL FAGADE. Ange-Jacques Gabriel skilfully
introduced a measure of variety into the decoration of the four
fagades of the Petit Trianon. The front fagade has a peristyle com-
prising four giant Corinthian columns; there are no orders on the
rear facade; and the two lateral facades have the same decoration
as the front, except that pilasters discreetly replace the columns.
(J. Roubier.) Sacing p. 160

Prate XXXV
BenouviLLE. It is an interesting fact that the owner, the Marquis de
Livry, was ruined as a result of the enormous sums his architect
induced him to spend on the rebuilding of this chateau. Owing, no
doubt, to the influence of Piranesi, the architect, Claude-Nicholas
Ledoux, was not always able to keep his fertile imagination within
reasonable bounds. (J. Roubier.) facing p. 161

Prate XXXVI
VAUX-LE-VICOMTE, THE ENTRANCE SIDE. This side of the chiteau
overlooks a vast terrace and the wide moat around it. Le Vau’s aim
was obviously to introduce movement into his design. He achieved
this by using a large number of projecting features and also by giving
each section of the building a separate roof. On the corner pavilions
the roofs are of the saddle-back type; on the central buildings they
are truncated. (Danése-Rapho.) Sacing p. 168

Prate XXXVII
PierreFONDs. Although, in his treatment of the interior, Viollet-le-
Duc seems to have drawn entirely upon his own imagination, his
restoration of the ruined castle was a faithful attempt to recreate it in
its original form. Seen from a distance, Pierrefonds gives a very fair
idea of what a royal castle looked like in the fifteenth century. (Rose
Nadau-Rapho.) Sacing p. 176

Prate XXXVIII
VAUVENARGUES. The chiteau stands on high ground overlooking the
neighbouring village. The outer enceinte, which is still standing,
dates probably from the fourteenth century, but the chéteau itself
dates only from the middle of the seventeenth century. It is a typical
two-storey Provengal manor-house with a tiled roof and two round
corner towers. The windows on the ground and first floors are out-
lined in rusticated stone, those on the ground floor having grilled
bars. The attic is lit by oval openings of the oeil-de-boeuf type. The
principal decorative feature of the front facade is the terrace along
the front of the house between the two corner towers. A long, straight
flight of steps leads up to this terrace and to an imposing doorway
outlined in rusticated masonry. In one of the rooms the original
high-relief plaster decoration has been preserved over a fireplace and
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over one of the doors. It is thought that Pablo Picasso has now
decided to decorate other rooms with his own paintings. (Lapie-
Photothéque frangaise.) Sacing p. 177

PraTte XXXIX

Fic.

Fic
Fic
Fic

VERSAILLES, THE FAGADES OVERLOOKING THE GARDENS. These form
part of the buildings erected by Le Vau around the old Louis XIII
chateau. They were begun in 1668, but not completed until after Le
Vau’s death (on October 11th, 1670). The great west fagade (centre
of photograph) was originally more accentuated than it is today; the
two upper floors were set back to allow space for a terrace over the
ground floor. When Hardouin-Mansart built the Galerie des Glaces
(1628-84) the terrace was suppressed and the facade assumed its

present form. (E. Marton.) JSacing p. 182
PLANS

1. Plan of Provins Castle and the keep at Etampes 41

. 2. Plans of Yévre-le-Chétel and Dourdan 56

. 3. Plans of the Temple Tower and the keep at Vincennes 79

. 4. Plans of the keep at Chambois and the ‘Palais du Prince’ 106

Book JACKET

Varts. Vals is deservedly famous, not only for its remarkable state of
preservation but also because of its magnificent position overlooking
the artificial lake created by the Bort dam. Over the door are the
arms of the ‘d’Estaing family (de France au chef d’or) who acquired the
domain in 1422. But the castle must be of considerably earlier date.
(Danése-Rapho.)




| TRANSLATOR’S NOTE

Although the English word ‘castle’ is the exact linguistic
equivalent of the French word ‘chéateau’, it has acquired,
over the years, a somewhat different meaning.

The French word ‘chiteau’ is equally applicable to a
Plantagenet fortress such as Gisors and to an elegant,
seventeenth-century country mansion such as Dampierre. It
is true that the word ‘chateau-fort’ specifically denotes a
Jortified castle; but the distinction is not often made.

The English word ‘castle’, however, in its current usage,
generally implies an ancient, fortified castle of the type that
became (militarily speaking) obsolete by the end of the
fifteenth century.

In order to convey as accurately as possible to English
readers this historical distinction between ‘castle’ and
‘chateau’, the former has been used only where the original
text refers to a fortified castle. In all other cases the word
‘chateau’ has been used, as in the original text.

15
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A great number of works have already been published on the
Chéteaux of France.

It is impossible to mention more than a few of many
excellent monographs available, as, for example, the collec-
tion of ‘Petites Monographies’, edited by Eugéne Lefévre-
Pontalis and Marcel Aubert; or the scholarly works on Le
Chdteau de Blois, by the brothers Lesueur (1921), and on
Gaillon, by Mlle. Chirol (1952).

Apart, however, from these detailed studies, other works of
a more general character began to appear at a very early date.
Du Cerceau, for instance, wrote, Les plus excellents bastimens de
France between 1576 and 1579. The middle of the nineteenth
century saw a steady increase in books on the subject,
notably, La Guienne Militaire,* by Léo Drouyn (1865), Palais,
chdteaux, hotels et maisons de France by Sauvageot (1867), and
Les chdteaux historiques de la France by d’Eyries (1877-81).
The twentieth century was also prolific in publications of this
kind. Jean de Foville and Auguste Le Sourd were first in the
field with Les chdteaux de France, in 1912. Several other
publishing houses followed quickly with a number of major
productions, competing for what proved to be a popular
demand: Messrs. Contet produced Les anciens chdteaux de
France (1913-33); Vincent Fréal published Les chdteaux et
manoirs de France (1934-39); Tel Publications followed with
Les Chdteaux de France by Ernest de Ganay (1948-53). Mean-
while, Henry Soulange-Bodin was producing a series of
studies on the castles of Normandy (1928-29), of Maine and

1 Guienne (or Guyenne) was the name given to part of the old province of Aquitaine
after its conquest by King Phillip II of France.

16
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Anjou (1934), Burgundy (1942), and Berry (1946). More
recently M. Jacques-Mérillau published a book on the
Chéteaux en Gironde (1956) and M. Frangois Enaud Les
chdteaux forés en France (1958). All these recent publications are
fully illustrated, and the information they contain was col-
lected for the most part from the actual owners of the castles
concerned. All are valuable sources of reference. They are,
nevertheless, only monographic studies of places treated in
isolation; they make no attempt to co-ordinate their con-
clusions into a broad survey of the subject as a whole.

Those in search of works dealing with the wider issues
involved are recommended to read, in the first place,
d’Enlart’s Manuel (2nd edition, published by Jean Verrier in
1932), which deals with the Middle Ages. It must be admitted,
however, that the writer has involved himself in such detailed
archeological research that it is extremely difficult to dis-
entangle from it the main principles underlying the evolution
of French fortified castles. Other more recent publications,
however, are free of this fault and have followed a definitely
historical plan in making their observations. Amongst them
are L’architecture militaire en Bretagne by Roger Grand (Bul-
letin monumental 1951 and 1952), a work of wider scope than
its title suggests and a useful source of general information;
Chdteaux, donjons et places fortes by M. Raymond Ritter (1953),
written in a lively, polemical style (one of the author’s main
objects being to refute —as others have already done — the
views put forward in 1898 by Marcel Dieulafoy in a treatise
on the Chateau-Gaillard); and, finally, Mr. Sidney Toy’s
A History of Fortification from 3000 B.C. to A.D. 1700 (London,
1955). The immense period of some fifty centuries covered
by this last book has produced a mass of information enabling
the author to put forward a number of extremely interesting
suggestions.

The most important work on the modern period is L’His-
toire de I’ architecture classique en France by M. Louis Hautecoeur
(1943-57). It would be wrong, however, to suppose that this
masterly study has completely exhausted the subject so far
as castles are concerned. Having made a broad survey of the
development of French architecture as a whole the author
finds himself forced to delve deeply into the study of the

B
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Louvre and Versailles at the expense — if not at the risk of
entirely neglecting — other monuments he considers of lesser
importance. He is also inclined to give less and less attention
to the study of castles as such because in the course of time
they become increasingly indistinguishable from the great
urban mansions, which, from the architectural point of view,
are of more interest than those in rural districts.

Very few of the works mentioned (whether they be col-
lections of monographs or educational publications) have
covered the whole period — as Roger Grand and Sidney Toy
have done - from the Middle Ages up to modern times.
But these two writers were concerned with the purely military
aspects of the subject, and they were therefore obliged to
extend their studies over the whole relevant period. So far as
we know, the only book which covers the whole period from
earliest times up to the present day is M. Pierre du Colom-
bier’s Le chdteau de France, published in 1960. This is a new
and original work, but it might more correctly bear the title
‘French castles and their owners’, for it is essentially a study
of the castle from the social point of view; the author
studiously avoids any architectural comment, for the
reason (as he says) that ‘this has been done often enough
already’.

It would seem, therefore, that although so much material
has already been published, there would be some merit in an
honest attempt to produce the first comprehensive, archi-
tectonic study covering the subject from its earliest beginnings
to the present day.

The question at once arises as to the exact meaning of the
word, ‘chateau’. It is often used today to describe buildings
which have —or seem to have - little in common, as, for
example, a medieval fortress and a modern country house.
It may be objected, therefore, that the subject comprises such
widely dissimilar elements that an attempt at a comprehen-
sive study would fail. We cannot accept this view. Whatever
the period or style, every chiteau has one fundamental
characteristic; it is a place to be lived in; a residence. That is
why the desire for comfort and even elegance becomes
apparent at an early stage. In the keep at Chambois (Orne),
for example, from the second half of the twelfth century




FOREWORD | 19

onwards the pillars of the fireplaces and the corbels supporting
the floors are very finely carved. As time went on the great
houses set an increasingly high standard of luxury, and
fortified castles during the reigns of Charles V and Charles
VI — the Louvre, Méhun-sur-Yévre, Pierrefonds, etc. — were
furnished and decorated in the most sumptuous manner.
Once these castles had lost their military importance they
quickly became transformed into country seats of the type
we know today. But some time was to elapse before considera-
tions of defence could be completely ignored. We shall see
later how, in the third quarter of the fifteenth century, Le
Plessis-Bourré introduced a new type of fortified castle that
was to serve as a model for the great Renaissance houses;
and it was by successive modifications of this plan that the
castle developed into the modern country seat.

There was a noticeable lack of uniformity, over the cen-
turies, in the rate of growth of castle-building in France. The
feudal period was followed by a long pause during the reigns
of Saint Louis and his successors up to the Hundred Years’
War; it increased again under Charles V and Charles VI,
died down after Agincourt (1415) and again revived during
the second half of the fifteenth century, reaching its peak at
the Renaissance, during which the old medieval fortress
became transformed into the purely residential chateau of the
modern era. Both Francis I and Henry II realised that the
erection of magnificent private castles would add not only
beauty but also prestige to the royal domains; they therefore
encouraged their subjects to build. The letters patent raising
the barony of Montmorency into a dukedom in July 1551
mention (as one of the Constable’s titles to the Royal favour)
that he had built at Chantilly and Ecouen ‘two of the finest
and most excellently built houses in the whole Kingdom’.
Henry IV followed the same policy at the end of the wars of
religion. In his Histoire du duc d’Epernon (published in 1663,
II, 2) Guillaume Girard records that ‘His Majesty urged the
greater part of the most wealthy members of the nobility to
plan the erection of fine houses’, and points out that Cadillac
was built as a result of the King’s personal intervention.
During the first half of the seventeenth century the ‘back-
to-the-land’ policy laid down by Henry IV and his minister,
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Sully, was a powerful incentive to the building of castles by
the rural aristocracy.

This development, however, was arrested by Louis XIV,
whose ideas on the subject were strongly opposed to those of
his predecessors. He was determined to uproot the aristocracy
from their lands and to bring them under his personal control
at Court. But castle-building revived after the King’s death
and continued throughout the eighteenth century until the
Revolution. It was again resumed after the Restoration and
it reached unprecedented levels during the Second Empire
and the Third Republic. The end came, finally and irre-
vocably, in 1914.

The story of the building of the castles of France would be
incomplete without some reference to those that were subse-
quently destroyed, not through war or civil disorders, but by
deliberate and wholesale demolition in time of peace at two
different periods of French history.

The first series of demolitions was the work of Richelieu.
Fully aware of the political instability which had marked
the beginning of the reign of Louis XIII, the Cardinal was
determined to forestall any possible trouble from the some-
what turbulent nobility. Richelieu’s policy in this matter was
so ruthless that M. Pierre du Colombier, in his Le chdteau de
France, devotes a whole chapter to the subject under the
title ‘Richelieu, the enemy of the castle’, that is to say, of the
fortified castle. Not even the royal casiles were spared;
Pierrefonds was dismantled in 1622 on the pretext of excesses
committed locally by its garrison; later, in 1652, Coucy
shared the same fate (on Mazarin’s orders) as a punishment
for it’s governor’s support of the Fronde.! These ancient
fortresses had by no means lost all their military value, for
when Clément Métezean (the engineer who built the ram-
parts at La Rochelle) tried to blow up the keep at Coucy he
succeeded only in destroying the interior vaulting and in
producing cracks in the walls; the huge tower remained
standing. 2

1 ‘La Fronde’ was the name given to the insurrection against Mazarin’s rule during the
minority of Louis XIV. It began in 1648 and ended finally in 1653.

2 It will be remembered that it was destroyed by the Germans in 1917.
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The demolitions carried out during the French Revolution
are perhaps better known to the general public than those of
Richelieu’s time. It is true, as M. Pierre du Colombier points
out (p. 233), that ‘far fewer castles were deliberately destroyed
by the Revolution than by Richelieu’. But the most serious
damage was done during the period between the Revolution
and the Restoration by the notorious Black Band, who were
able to buy up for a mere song (for subsequent demolition)
properties either confiscated by the State or so badly damaged
by looting that their owners could not afford to repair them.
A great number of famous castles were wholly or partially
destroyed in this way; and these were no longer mere ancient
keeps of mainly archaeological interest; they were master-
pieces of French architecture. Among them were Gaillon,
Anet, Chanteloup; and many others.

The Romantic period put a stop to these acts of vandalism.
The creation of the Commission of Historic Monuments on
December 2gth, 1837, was evidence of official determination
to safeguard the artistic heritage of France. But the process
of classification was too slow to prevent a number of such
buildings falling into the hands of the speculator. In 1872 an
individual of the name of Verdolin stripped La Batie d’Urfé
of its interior decoration and of furniture that had been
preserved almost intact since the Renaissance. On April goth,
1881, the whole of the sculptured fragments from Montal,
(dormer windows, medallions, friezes, etc.), were allowed to
be put up for auction. Again, in 1902, the ruins of Grignan
were purchased, broken up, and the sculptures sold by auc-
tion — the purchaser being a descendant of the family who
built the chateau!

We may end, however, on a more cheerful note. In 19og,
after the destruction of the interior decoration of La Batie
d’Urfé, the house itself was on the point of being dismantled
and transported stone by stone across the Atlantic, when it
was rescued by the learned society, ‘Diana’, of Montbrison,
and purchased outright. Montal had similar good fortune.
Maurice Fenaille acquired the ruins and eventually suc-
ceeded, after tremendous efforts, in collecting together almost
all the fragments that had been stripped off it by the house-
breakers, and completely restored the building. Raymond



o) THE CHATEAUX OF FRANCE

Poincaré, then President of France, honoured the place by an
official visit in August 1913.

No one builds castlesnowadays — a fact (one mightsuggest),
that gives even greater value to these historic monuments.
But a new and powerful safeguard is at work. The develop-
ment of the tourist trade, with its coach trips, its floodlighting,
its ‘son et lumiére’, has aroused public interest in historic
castles and become a significant source of income to their
owners, who have now formed their own professional associa-
tion, ‘La Demeure Historique’.

Without being unduly optimistic, one may be reasonably
certain that the deplorable vandalism of which such castles as
La Batie d’Urfé, Montal and Grignan were victims will never
be repeated.

1 Angers, The Field Gate
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CHAPTER ONE

| THE MIDDLE AGES

In the etymological sense, a castle (castellum) is essentially a
fortified place. Its basic feature, the motte, or mound, also
known as the ‘keep’ (dunio), is thought to date from the time
of the Norman invasions, that is to say, from the very early
years of the tenth century. The mound, or small, man-made
hill, was enclosed by a rampart thrown up around it, usually
surmounted by a palisade or hedge. Set up a tower on the
mound — and you have a castle.

Up to the end of the eleventh century, the tower (or ‘keep’,
as we shall now call it), was built of wood ; but the rampart or
wall surrounding it was of earth, and remained so until a
much later date.

Our knowledge of these wooden forts comes from ancient
records and also from the Bayeux Tapestry, which leading
historians now believe to date from the last quarter of the
eleventh century. If we compare the rough drawing of Dinan
(Cotes-du-Nord), as shown on the Tapestry, with the descrip-
tions of the Castle of Merkem (near Dixmude, Belgium) and
other fortified places in that area, as given in the life of Jean
de Commines, Bishop of Thérouanne,! we shall find that the
types are identical, although these places are miles apart.
Each has its mound, surrounded by a trench and crowned
by a sturdy palisade. Within the palisade, in the middle of the

! See Bibliography, Mortet (Victor), Recueil, I, pp. 313-315.
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mound, is a redoubt which dominates the whole. The fort
itself is reached by a footbridge crossing the trench. It is
worth noting that the Tapestry shows soldiers with lighted
torches setting fire to the fort —a clear indication that it is
made of wood.

We find, therefore, in these timber structures, all the
essential features of the Norman fortified castle: the mound,
the keep (or central redoubt), and the surrounding ‘chemise’,
or palisade.

1 | The Norman Keeps

The replacement of wood by stone in the construction of these
castles was an unhurried process. The Bayeux Tapestry shows
that at the end of the eleventh century stone fortresses were
still very rare. Of the five fortified castles shown on the
Tapestry only one is of stone — and it is not easy to identify;
all the others are of wood.

The use of stone became more common during the twelfth
century. The castle of Ardres (Pas-de-Calais), built presumably
in the early years of the century by Arnoul, the lord of the
manor, is given a flattering description in the chronicles of
Lambert d’Ardres;! but it was, nevertheless, a wooden
structure. The less-important keep at Longueil (Seine-
Maritime), dating from about 1125, and carefully studied by
R. Quenedey? before it was destroyed, was, however, already
built in stone.

In castles built for kings and other princely rulers, the stone
keep, however, had already made its appearance more than a
century earlier.

The oldest example still in existence is the castle of
Langeais. According to his grandson, Fulk le Réchin, and to
a number of local records, it was founded by the Count of
Anjou, Fulk Nerra (977-1040). It must already have been
standing in 966, for a charter granted by Odo, first Count

1 See Victor Mortet, Bibliography, “Recueil” I, pp. 183-185.
2 Bulletin Monumental, 1931.
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of Blois, bears the date of the siege of Langeais (ad obsidionem
castelli Langiacensis), February 12th, 966.1

The keep is rectangular, its inside measurements being
53 feet by 23 feet. The north and east walls are still standing,
up to a height of about forty feet. Its quadrilateral form,
typical of timber-built keeps, shows its direct derivation from
the earlier, wooden type; so also does the absence of any
stone staircase or of vaulting on the upper floors. Although
built at the end of the tenth century, the masonry is almost
exactly in the Gallo-Roman tradition; the walls, g feet g
inches thick on the north side and 4 feet g inches on the cast,
are made of stone rubble packed together with mortar and
surfaced with roughly-squared small stone (opus constructum
lapillis). The bays have the semicircular Norman arch, with
keystones of alternate stone and brick. At each corner, and in
the middle of the east facade, the walls are supported by
buttresses of medium height, probably added at some later
date to strengthen the building, which was besieged on
several occasions.

All that remains today is the ground level and the first
floor; but it is likely that the original building had a second
floor. Following the tradition in all Norman keeps, the
ground floor has no direct communication with the exterior.
(The door visible on the north side is the result of some later
modification.) The ground floor could only be reached by a
ladder or wooden stairway from the first floor. In 1930
Adrien Blanchet discovered, in the middle of the ground floor,
the foundations of a pillar which helped to support the floor
above. Six bays are cut in the walls of the first floor, most of
them being windows. The last bay on the left of the east
facade is the entrance to the castle: it was always the practice,
in Norman keeps, to site the entrance high above the ground,
out of reach of unwelcome visitors.

The toothing stones of two walls set at right angles to the
facade are clearly visible round this door. These walls formed
part of an adjoining, smaller tower, usually known as the

1 See Lot: Etudes sur le régne de Hugues Capet, pp. 178, 1.2, and 423-36. The original of the
charter is in the archives of the Indre-et-Loire Department, but one of the figures of the
date is torn, and two inaccuracies have been noted: the number of the indiction (which
appears to have been written over an erasure), and the year of the reign of Hugh Capet.
We agree with Lot’s reading on this point.
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‘small keep’, which was, in fact, an enclosed staircase. We
shall give some further explanations on this point when
dealing with the castle of Loches.

Summing up, Langeais may be described as being novel in
conception, but the methods used in its construction are still
those of the Late Empire.

Another stone keep at Montbazon — also in Touraine —
must be more or less contemporary with Langeais. Fulk
Nerra records it as being under construction in the Charter
No. 31 of the cartulary of Cormery, granted by Robert le
Pieux?! at the request of Abbé Thibault (977-1066). It forms
part of the strategic plan which includes Langeais and cover:
Tours by commanding the valleys that converge on the citys
the Loire at Langeais, the Indre at Montbazon and the Cher
at Montrichard (rebuilt in the twelfth century).

Montbazon was often besieged. (Gatian de Clérambault
records six sieges between 944 and 1117). As a result, so much
rebuilding and restoration have taken place that considerable
caution is advised in making a study ofit. It is clear, however,
that originally it had much in common with Langeais; the
same rectangular plan; approximately the same interior
dimensions (51 feet by 31 feet). The walls, too, are of the same
type, faced with small stone, but thicker (8 feet on the north
and east). The door is placed high up on the northern side,
26 feet above the ground. There is the same absence of
vaulting and of any stone staircase; each floor was ceiled, and
communication between them was by ladder only.

As it stands today, the building is 93 feet high and has
three floors above the ground floor. The absence of buttresses
on the west and south sides justifies the assumption that
there was none on the original building. The east and north
sides are supported by six buttresses, of which two are
rectangular and flat, like those at Langeais; the other four
are semicylindrical, and have the advantage of giving a
clearer field of fire to the defenders. These semicylindrical
buttresses were almost certainly added later to the original
structure; but the thickness of the joints shows that these
buttresses are of very early date.

1 King Robert IT (gg6-1031).
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The west side of the castle is flanked by a rectangular
‘small keep’ (now in a very ruinous condition), which was
probably a covered staircase similar to that at Langeais.
The irregular small stone facing of its walls shows that it
belongs to the same period as the oldest parts of the main
tower; but it must have been an addition to the original
building since the original entrance to the keep appears to
have been on the north side.

The castle of Loches, which lies to the south of Montbazon
and Montrichard and (strategically) covers them both,
belonged from the ninth century onwards to the Counts of
Anjou. It almost certainly formed part of the strategic plan
drawn up by Fulk Nerra against Tours. As a matter of fact,
no record exists to show that it was he who rebuilt the castle.
Its general appearance suggests that it is of a period con-
siderably later than that of Langeais; and M. Jean Valléry-
Radot put forward the very plausible suggestion that it was
built at the end of the eleventh century. (See Plate 11.)

But a difficulty arose later. After examining the building
closely, M. Valléry-Radot noticed that considerable restora-
tion and repair had been done to the west side. Here, for
about fifty feet, or half~way up from the ground, the external
facade is definitely of earlier date than the rest; the wall,
however, has at some later date been doubled in thickness
and its height raised to the top of the building. Further, this
western facade, unlike the others, had originally no buttresses;
those which now support it at the angles were obviously built
on later. It is clear, therefore, that the walls of the original
keep had only half the strength of the present ones, and had
no buttresses — which, in fact, seems to have been the position
both at Langeais and Montbazon. As Fulk Nerra died in
1040, it is surely reasonable to conclude —as M. Valléry-
Radot is inclined to do — that he was nearing the end of his
life when he began the reconstruction of Loches, and that he
died before the scheme was completed. If this be so, the work
must have been resumed on a larger scale some time later,
with the result we see today.

This magnificent, rectangular mass of masonry has a
height of 123 feet; its interior measurements are 66 feet by
26 feet; the walls are g feet thick. As is often the case, it stands,
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not in the centre, but on the edge (and, in fact, on the weaker
side) of the enclosure which surrounds the vast ‘bailey’ or
lower court, covering the whole upper level of the mound.
The walls are revetted in medium (instead of small) stone.
The thickness of the joints, however — a little over an inch —
betrays a certain lack of finish in the masonry. Like those
of Montbazon, the buttresses, which were part of the original
structure (except, as we have seen, on the west facade), are
semicylindrical. The ‘small keep’, erected on the less exposed
north side, is sufficiently well preserved to allow one to visual-
ise its original plan. The entrance is 10 feet above the present
ground level. Stairs, built on to the inside of the walls, led
up to the door of the main building at a considerably higher
level on the first floor. As the staircases were entirely unpro-
tected, the defenders could easily deny their use to any
attacker who might have gained entrance. The chapel was
on the third floor; its semi-domed apse is still visible. The
keep itself had three floors above the ground floor. The latter,
used as a storeroom, was, like most others of its kind, com-
pletely unlit except for the few loopholes necessary for venti-
lation. The upper floors were lit by a few narrow bays with
semicircular arches; it is still possible to trace the remains of
three fireplaces built on to one of the walls.

The ground fioor is divided in two by a wall which gives
support to the beams carrying the floor above. A similar con-
struction, it will be remembered, is to be seen at Langeais,
where a central pillar replaced the dividing wall.

On the other hand, a novel feature, which contrasts both
with Langeais and with Montbazon, is the way in which the
stone staircases are built on to the interior sides of the walls.
The siting of these staircases is indicative, also, of the cunning
displayed in all Norman keeps with the object of baffling any
of the enemy who may have succeeded in gaining entry to the
fortress. There is no direct communication between one flight
of stairs and the one immediately above. From the first to the
second floor the stairs come out in the south-east corner; from
the second to the third, in the north-west corner. Coming up,
therefore, from the second floor, one would have to cross the
room to go up to the floor above.

The castle of Beaugency (Loiret) differs from those we have
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just been studying in that it lies virtually outside the Angevin
area. It was a frontier post between the royal domain and the
County of Blois. Its massive size and many other features
suggest that it was contemporary with Loches. Its plan is
rectangular; the masonry is of rough, medium-sized stone
(except in the buttresses, where the stone is more carefully
graded). The original bays are narrow; the interior measure-
ments are 54 feet by 41 feet; the north wall is 12} feet thick
at the base and 8 feet thick at the upper floors.

The mound on which it was built was levelled in the
nineteenth century, and the bases of the walls uncovered.
They were found to consist of gigantic blocks of stone, after
the fashion of the Gallo-Roman curtain-walls, of which the
foundations were often made from great stones taken from
ancient buildings. Amongst some of these blocks Adrien
Blanchet even claims to have identified two fragments of
Roman milestones.

The general features of the building are similar to those we
have already met elsewhere. The buttresses are flat; the
ground floor has no communication with the exterior and is
lit only by loopholes; there is no vaulting on the upper floors;
the entrance is on the first floor. Finally, in order to baffle
the enemy, the staircase leading down to the lower room ends
at a point 20 feet above ground level.

Beaugency differs, nevertheless, from the castles we have
so far examined by the fact that it has no ‘small keep’. The
only means of entry was by a movable bridge between the
door and the top of the curtain wall. Although the latter has
now disappeared, an engraving by Claude Chastillon shows
that it was still in existence in the seventeenth century. The
central keep is depicted, surrounded by double curtain-walls.
The ground floor, too, had double barrel-vaulting supported
in the middle, not by a dividing wall but by a row of three
arches. Many years later, probably in the fifteenth century,
similar arcades were added at each storey to support the
floors above.

It is almost certain that in Normandy, the richest domain
in France, stone castles appeared at a very early date. Up
to 1883 a keep still existed at Avranches (that is to say, on the
borders of Brittany), in which the herring-bone masonry
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(opus spicatum) interspersed with courses of brick and the
brick voussoirs of the windows suggest very ancient con-
struction, almost contemporary with that of Langeais. Owing,
no doubt, to extensive restoration and rebuilding Normandy,
however, can no longer lay claim to any castle of earlier date
than the twelfth century (except Gisors).

The great builder of fortified castles was, of course, the
English king, Henry I Beauclerc, who had become duke of
Normandy in 1106. In 1119, Louis VI, the quarrelsome
monarch who had acceded to the throne of France in 1108,
took upon himself to make a rather foolhardy expedition deep
into Henry’s territory, the “Vexin Normand’,* where, for his
pains, he was crushingly defeated at Brémule. Such an attack
from his turbulent neighbour could not fail to put the English
king on his guard. In 1123, the chronicler Robert de Torigni
(alias Robert du Mont) gives a list of eleven castles built or
strengthened by Henry I and covering the whole Normandy
frontier to a depth of twenty or twenty-five miles. Judging by
those that have survived at Arques, Falaise, Domfront and
Vire, these keeps were nearly all of the rectangular type.

Let us look at Falaise (Calvados), which is in a better state
of preservation than the others, and was carefully restored
by Ruprich-Robert in 1864. It replaced an older castle
famous in popular lore by being thought to have sheltered the
loves of Robert le Diable, duke of Normandy, and Arlette,
the pretty laundrymaid, who were the parents of William
the Conquerer. (See Plate 111.)

The interior measurements of the present keep are
impressive: 65 feet by 55 ft. It was of relatively late date, as
witness the well-cut ashlar, the string-course ornamenting
the building at the base of the second floor, and the twin bays
of the same floor, which have carved capitals on the centre
pillars. But, so far as the style of building is concerned, there is
no feature that is not already familiar. The buttresses are flat,
but have double offsets; the ground floor has a dividing wall
and no means of communication with the exterior; there is a
complete absence of vaulting; the staircase is built in the

1 The Vexin, one of the old French Provinces, was divided into ‘Norman’ and ‘French’
Vexin.
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thickness of the wall; the entrance is placed high up on the
most sheltered (east) side of the first floor; and the chapel is in
a projection built out from the first floor. A squat ‘little keep’
was added later on the far side, against the west facade. Its
position is surprising, for this is the most exposed side of the
building. But this tower carries no internal staircase; it is
placed there for military reasons to cover a rocky platform
against occupation by possible attackers.

A special feature should be noted. The rectangular keeps
in the Loire valley have quoins of solid masonry, with but-
tresses applied on each face. At Falaise, however, the two
corner buttresses are joined together, leaving a hollow space
between them and the angle of the keep. This space is used
either to house a spiral staircase or to be converted into small
rooms, one of which has, quite understandably, been given
the name of Arlette’s Chamber. So far, therefore, as the
interior arrangement is concerned, Falaise may be described
as a keep having square turrets flanking each corner; but it
should be added that these turrets project only very slightly
from the main building and are in no way to be considered
as having military use in outflanking possible attackers.

Rectangular buttress-turrets of a similar type were in
common use in England on keeps built by the Normans at
the end of the eleventh century. They are to be seen on the
west side of the White Tower in London, on the keep of
Rochester Castle, Kent, on the north side of Colchester Castle
in Essex and at Castle Rising in Norfolk. The chapel also is
built out at a corner of the first floor at Falaise, as it is at the
Tower of London and at Colchester. Falaise, in fact, is of
particular interest because its points of resemblance to the
English castles allow one to define the typical features of a
Norman keep of the period.

The Norman style died hard. Up to the second half (or
even the last third) of the twelfth century it can still be found,
for example, at Chambois (Orne), which is obviously of much
later date, as witness the slightly battered bases of the walls
(now buried) and the clawed bases and foliated capitals of
the pillars supporting the hoods over the fireplaces. M.
Xavier Rousseau suggests that it was built by William de
Mandeville, who died in 1189, and who was one of the
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favourites of Henry II Plantagenet. The upper part of the
building, however, with its machicolated battlements, was
added in 1400.

Chambois is a rectangular keep of almost the same dimen-
sions as those of Montbazon; its interior measurements are
51 feet by 31 feet and its height 86 feet. But the thickness of
the walls (10 feet) is rather greater than is usual in eleventh-
century castles. It has the customary Norman features: the
ground floor has no communication with the exterior, and is
lit only by loopholes; there is no vaulting, and the entrance
is at the level of the first floor. It has, in addition, a peculiarity
in common with Falaise and the English keeps: it is sup-
ported at the four corners by buttress-turrets projecting
slightly bevond the walls but having no military value so far
as flanking fire is concerned.

The disposition of the ‘small keep’, built on to the east face,
should, however, be carefully noted. It will be remembered
that at Loches the entrance to this extra tower was at a rather
low level, and that the tower itself carried a staircase leading
to the entrance to the main building, which was much higher
up. The arrangement at Chambois, however, is entirely
different. The ground floor of the small keep has no com-
munication with the outside; access to it was by a trapdoor
in the vault above. The entrance to the castle was made at the
level of the first floor, and it leads to a well-lit room, serving as
vestibule to the door of the main keep, which is on the same
level. This arrangement is copied from the English castles of
Rochester and Castle Rising, where the vestibule, or entrance-
hall, as at Chambeois, is well lit by several windows, and must
have been a particularly pleasant room. (See p. 106.)

It is impossible to know whether similar dispositions
existed at Falaise, because we have no details regarding the
small keep (assuming that one existed there) that stood guard
over the entrance to the castle. At the wooden castle of Ardres
(Pas de Calais), however, and according to the description
given by Lambert d’Ardres (see Recuetl, I, pp. 183-85), it
would seem that a similar arrangement existed, and that,
amongst a maze of stairs and passages, there were some that
led from the main building to a room he calls a ‘loge’ (or
parlour) and from the ‘loge’ to the chapel (item a domo in

11 The Keep, Loches
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logium . . . , ttem de logio in oratorium sive capellam). Lambert
goes on to say that the chapel was situated in the upper part
of the building, and to describe the ‘loge’ as a pleasant place
where people would meet and converse. This ‘loge’, which was
outside the main building, seems to correspond with the
vestibule, or entrance-hall in the English castles. The chapel,
no doubt, was on the floor above, over the vestibule, just as
it is at Rochester. Lambert’s account is particularly interest-
ing because the fact that these rooms were intended for rest or
recreation explains why, at Rochester, Castle Rising and
Chambois, they have large windows opening on to the
outside world — a somewhat risky innovation from the mili-
tary point of view, which elicited some surprised comment
from M. Paul Deschamps (vide Congrés archéologique, 1953,
p- 298).

All the stone keeps we have been discussing developed from
the original wooden towers and, like them, are quadrilateral
in plan. But once the use of stone had become well established
builders could turn their attention to other types. We find, for
example, the Gallo-Roman type of rounded tower with
flattened neck along the curtains (as at Senlis), or almost
circular at the corners of the rampart as at the Archbishop’s
Palace (now the museum) at Tours. We think, too, that the
Gallo-Roman fort was used as a model for the circular keeps
found in certain castles. The oldest of these still standing is
undoubtedly at Fréteval (Loir-et-Cher), and dates, most
probably, from the middle of the eleventh century. The same
type is found, not far from Fréteval, at Chateau-Renault
(Indre-et-Loire) — dating from the end of the eleventh
century — and also in the Norman Vexin at Neaufles and at
Chateau-sur-Epte (Eure). Although it never became com-
mon, it was frequently used during the twelfth century.

It will be noted that these circular keeps, although in their
general features they still conformed to the older rectangular
types, differed from them (and followed the Gallo-Roman
model) by having no buttress.

Whether rectangular or circular, however, all the keeps we
have studied so far have the same essential features, which
remained unchanged for more than a hundred years; that is
to say, there was no communication between the ground floor

11 The Keep, Falaise c
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and the exterior; the entrance was high above ground level;
the floors were ceiled, not vaulted; and the window-openings
were narrow, semicircular, and limited to the upper floors.
It was in masonry, however, that real progress was made.
From the point of view of refinement, there is no comparison
between Langeais and Falaise. Even the structure of the
building itself —its walls and foundations — was improved.
Judging by Langeais, Montbazon and Loches, the walls of
rectangular keeps were originally quite bare. It was as a result
of successive attacks that it was found necessary to support
them with buttresses. At Langeais and Montbazon, for
example, these were added to existing structures; at others,
such as Beaugency, Loches and Falaise, the buttresses were
incorporated in the original buildings. There was a tendency
too, for walls to be made thicker. In earlier keeps — at Lan-
geais, for example, and the west facade of Loches — the
thickness was 4 feet 6 inches. This increases to 8 feet at
Montbazon, Beaugency, and Chateau-sur-Epte, to over g
feet at Loches and Neaufles, 10 feet at Chateau-Renault, and
10 feet 8 inches at Falaise. For similar reasons, wooden ladders
and stairways were gradually replaced by stone staircases
built on to the insides of walls; and the art of baffling a
potential enemy was developed by cutting off any direct and
continuous communication by stairway between the floors.
In contrast to the progress made in masonry, there seems to
have been no advance in military ideas (so far as our present
knowledge goes) during the eleventh century. It has often
been observed that the art of defence, in regard to fortified
places, was concerned only with the height or the thickness of
the walls. No attempt was made to provide flanking fire; no
projecting structure was conceived that could bring fire to
bear on any attackers who had reached the foot of the walls.
From this point of view, the rectangular fort was of the worst
shape possible, because at each corner there was always an
area completely uncovered by any defensive fire; which
therefore allowed the enemy to slip through to the foot of the
walls and undermine the building. This fault was remedied
later, in theory at least, by the introduction of circular keeps;
but it is in no way certain that those who first built them
realised their superiority from the military point of view; they
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had been content merely to copy the plan of the Gallo-
Roman tower.

The arrangements for defence were all located in the upper
part of the building. The loopholes one finds on the ground
floor of several keeps (Loches, Beaugency, Chambois, etc.)
are not intended for archers’ use; they are simply narrow
slits cut in the wall to provide light and ventilation.

The crowning has disappeared from all existing Norman
keeps; only by conjecture, therefore, is it possible to arrive at
any conclusions as to the methods used in their defence.

There is good reason to suppose that the tops of the walls
were crenellated. There is still, in fact, some evidence of
eleventh-century crenellation at Chinon —not on a tower,
but on the west curtain of the Chateau du Coudray,* which
had been increased in height on three separate occasions.
One can clearly see, on the outer face of the curtain, the
outline of the battlements of the two earlier walls, the lower
of which probably dates either from the count of Anjou,
Geoffrey Martel, who became the lord of Chinon in 1044, or
even perhaps from his predecessor, the count of Blois.

The existence of hoards on eleventh-century keeps has
often been debated. These wooden galleries, built out from
the exterior walls of the fort, had their floors pierced with
holes through which various projectiles could be dropped
upon any attackers who had reached the foot of the walls.
They seem to have been unknown to the ancient world,?
although Philo of Byzantium (III, 5) mentions a similar
device which consisted of mobile parapets attached to the
insides of the walls. These coursiéres, or runways, were known
in France from the end of the eleventh century onwards;
Adolphe de Dion (Bulletin monumental, 1867, p. 363) reports
one on the curtain wall of the keep at Chéateau-sur-Epte.

As to the hoards themselves, one certainly existed on the
curtain of the west facade at Chinon; which leads us to
suppose (if the date suggested is correct), that this form of
defence was already known at the middle of the eleventh

1 Chinon comprises three castles: Chateau Saint-Georges, Chiteau du Milieu and
Chateau du Coudray.

# We cannot agree with Viollet-le-Duc (see Bibliography) when he claims that hoards
correspond to the galleries connecting wooden towers, referred to by Caesar in his Com-
mentaries (VIII, g).
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century. It was used, in any case, in the first quarter of the
twelfth century, as it is to be seen on several castles of that
period: the keep at Huriel (Allier) — which, in M. Paul
Deschamps’ view, is contemporary with Loches and Beau-
gency (Congrés archéologique, 1938, p. 57) ; the keep at Loudun
(Vienne), where the pointed arch over the door is evidence
of a relatively late date; at Gisors, between the Governor’s
Gate and the Prisoner’s Tower, dating from 1123, and at
Carcassonne, which is more or less of the same period. The
joists that carried the planking of the hoards were either
supported on small trusses projecting from the walls (as at
Gisors and, later, at Chambois), or they were inserted into
slots or holes in the walls (as at Huriel, Loudun and Carcas-
sonne); and it is by these rows of trusses or holes that the
original existence of hoards is revealed.?

It was an essential feature of the defence of any keep to
site the entrance high above the ground level. In certain
cases — notably at Beaugency, Huriel and Chatillon-sur-
Indre — the only means of access to the entrance was by a
footbridge from the top of the ‘chemise’ (or curtain wall) of
the castle. If a staircase was used for this purpose it was
always enclosed in a ‘small keep’, as at Loches. At Chateau-
sur-Epte, however, one finds a slightly different arrangement:
the entrance to the courtyard surrounding the keep is through
a small tower which has a door 13 feet above the ground;
from this door an open staircase runs along the outer wall to
the main entrance of the keep.

The most usual method of closing the entrance was by a
plain wooden beam, which held the doors shut. When not
in use, the beam was stowed away in a hole in the wall;
such holes can still be seen in many keeps (at Montbazon,
Loudun, Montrichard, Chambois, etc.).

Some speculation exists as to whether the footbridge leading
to the entrance could be raised like a drawbridge. The
pulley type of drawbridge was certainly known to the
ancient world. The sambuca described by Vegetius (IV, 21)

1 At Huriel and Carcassonne there are two rows of holes. The upper row carried the
joists; the lower one carried a series of beams projecting slightly beyond the joists and fitted
with oblique supports holding up the joists above. A drawing by Viollet-le-Duc (Vo
‘1}01}1:(%'. Fig. 1) explains this arrangement very clearly. Later examples show only one row
of holes.
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was an instrument of this kind, and was used by the troops
attacking a fortified place to pass from their mobile wooden
siege-towers on to the top of the walls of the fort. But, so far
as we know, there is no reason to believe that drawbridges
existed in castles of the eleventh century. The brackets still
to be seen in front of the entrance to the keep at Beaugency
have neither the notches nor grooves necessary to house the
swivel-pins of a drawbridge; they appear to have been
nothing more than the supports for a footbridge.

It may be useful to complete this general survey by some
remarks upon the interior dispositions of the eleventh-
century castle. The chronicles left by Lambert d’Ardres give us
some valuable information on this subject. We learn, for
instance, that at the wooden castle of Ardres the ground floor
was used as a store-room, that the apartment on the first floor
was reserved for the master of the house, and that the kitchens
were in a separate building. The same arrangement is also
to be found in the stone-built castles. The ground floor is
always cut off from any communication with the exterior, and
is used as a store. Note also that originally the ground floor
had no vaulting, and that a dividing wall was sometimes
used to support the floor of the room above. From about
1100 onwards, however, we find vaulting in these ground-
floor rooms at Beaugency (Loiret), Courcelles-les-Gisors
(Oise) and at La Roche-Posay (Vienne). The room on the
first floor is set aside for the master of the house. It is, in fact,
the forerunner of the great hall, the main feature of all castles
in the Middle Ages; and one soon sees efforts being made to
give an air of comfort and even of elegance to this room. At
Chambois, for instance, the corbels supporting the ties of the
beams in the ceiling are decorated with ornamental carving.
As to the kitchens of the eleventh century, the only traces still
surviving, so far as we know, are at Gisors, and (as at Ardres)
they are located outside the keep.

The details given by Lambert d’Ardres regarding the
interior distribution of these castles were confirmed in 1927
by the excavation, up to a height of 63 feet, of the walls of the
castle of Longueil (Seine-Maritime). These remains were
sufficiently intact to allow one to follow, on the ground, the
plan of the whole building. Most unfortunately, the walls
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themselves have since been destroyed, but a permanent
record of them was made in a detailed description by R.
Quenedey in the Bulletin monumental, 1931. Longueil, which
dates probably from about 1125, was of only secondary
importance. The wall surrounding the castle was merely an
earth entrenchment; the internal dimensions of the keep
were but 44 feet by 26 feet. But its general features are in
every way similar to those of the great castles of the period,
and indeed they give it a definitely Norman character. The
keep was rectangular; it was buttressed, and the interior was
divided by a party wall. The ground floor had no communi-
cation with the exterior, and the entrance was on the first
floor. Two walls built out at right angles from the south-west
corner indicate that a ‘small keep’ had once stood there, but
it was impossible to determine whether it was used merely as
an interior staircase (as at Loches) or as a vestibule (or
‘loge’) as at Ardres and Chambois. Unlike Falaise and
Chambois, the corner buttresses were not joined together;
but a winding staircase had been built in the thickness of the
masonry at the north-west corner as at Falaise and at many of
the English castles, such as the Tower of London, Rochester,
Colchester, etc. The Norman character of the keep is con-
firmed by the position of the chapel, which is built on to the
south wall, the apse projecting eastwards; a disposition
which is also found at the Tower of London and at Col-
chester. Finally, adjoining the main building were a number
of minor structures including the kitchen, which —as at
Ardres — was located outside the keep itself.

2 | The Twelfth Century
The Plantagenet Castles

All archaeologists agree that the Crusades gave a valuable
stimulus to the military leaders of the West. The Arab and
Byzantine peoples had preserved their ancient traditions and
were more advanced than the Crusaders in the art of military
engineering.

During the twelfth century the Western commanders
began seriously to study ancient treatises on the art of war, a
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subject which (it appeared) they had hitherto greatly
neglected. Jean de Marmoutier records in his Historia Ganfridi
ducis Normannorum that during the siege of Montreuil-Bellay
in 1151, Geoffrey Plantagenet was engaged in reading
Vegetius when a delegation arrived from the monks of
Marmoutiers. Anxious to show them the fruit of his studies, he
invited them to be present at the launching of an incendiary
projectile based on the falarigue described by Vegetius (IV,
8). Geofirey Plantagenet, however, was only one of many
others of his time who were seeking to improve their military
knowledge. As a result, the art of defence began at last to
emerge from centuries of stagnation and neglect. We find
ample evidence, during this period, of repeated efforts to
improve the design of the keep so as to permit flanking fire
along the walls. But it must be admitted that these efforts
were more often distinguished by their good intentions than
by their efficacy.

Houdan (Seine-et-Oise) was built during the first thirty
years of the twelfth century by Amaury de Montfort (1105-
37). The builder was evidently aware of the rule laid down by
Vitruvius (1. 5) to the effect that the keep should be circular
or polygonal; he had also learned from Vegetius (IV, 2) the
importance of bringing flanking fire to bear from the towers
on to the walls. With the best of intentions he built a circular
keep, flanked by four turrets, but he failed to perceive that
the convex curve of the walls prevented the cross fire from
the turrets from converging to cover the area between them.
This disadvantage was accentuated by the fact that the
turrets were solid throughout almost their entire height,
thereby reducing even further their value for flanking
purposes. The entrance, which was in one of the turrets, was
18 feet above ground level and considerably lower than the
first floor; it opened on to a stairway of twenty steps cut in
the thickness of the wall and leading straight up to the first
floor.! This plan was ingenious and unquestionably superior
to those we have met hitherto, where the entrance opened
directly on to the main room of the keep.

The keep at Provins, erected by the Counts of Champagne

1 We are indebted for these details to Adolphe de Dion ( Bulletin monumental, 1905).

Ehe keep has now been turned into a water-tower, and therefore the interior can no longer
e visited.
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towards the middle of the twelfth century, shows evidence
of the same intention and suffers from the same fault as that
of Houdan. It is of octagonal design and is flanked by round
turrets on four of its faces ; but the turrets protrude so little that
the whole external plan of the building could be contained
in a perfect square, with the result that it is impossible to bring
flanking fire to bear on the four walls that have no turrets.

The royal keep at Etampes, known as the ‘Guinette
Tower’, is almost certainly of the same period (middle of the
twelfth century) as those of Houdan and Provins; but it is in
every way superior to either. From the design of three surviv-
ing capitals on the walls of the upper room, Eugéne Lefevre-
Pontalis (Congrés, archéologique, 1919, p. 40) suggests that it
was built during the first quarter of the century. The keep has
a very original four-leaved plan with four round towers
mutually intersecting and providing excellent flanking cover
between them. As at Houdan the entrance is placed midway
between the ground level and the first floor; it opens on to a
rib-vaulted passage passing through a wall 12 feet thick, and
ends in a sheer drop of 12 feet above the floor of the lower
room. From right and left of this passage two staircases built
in the thickness of the wall lead respectively up to the first
floor and down to the ground level.

The keep at Ambleny (Aisne), although, like Etampes, it
has four massive towers, is on a slightly different plan. Instead
of overlapping each other the towers are separated by very
short curtains varying in length from 6 to 10 feet. It is less
powerfully built than the keep at Etampes and is almost
certainly of later date — probably towards the end of the
twelfth century.

It is surprising, in view of the complexity of these plans
and the considerable ingenuity shown in their elaboration, to
find that the simpler and more effective rectangular design
with four corner towers was so rarely used. It is found,
however, in the royal castle at Niort, which dates apparently
from the third quarter of the twelfth century and to which we
shall return later; also in a number of keeps in the Poitou
area; at Pouzauges and at Tiffauges (Vendée), and others.
A striking characteristic common to these castles is that the
keeps are four-sided and are strengthened at the corners by
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solid square turrets with rounded corners. The same principle
is followed in the Gouzon keep at Chauvigny (Vienne). This
was originally of the rectangular, eleventh-century type
(exemplified by Beaugency), but as a result of later modifi-
cation its width was doubled and solid corner turrets were
added. It is very difficult to determine the date of these three
keeps at Pouzauges, Tiffauges, and Chauvigny. At Pouzauges
all the floors have barrel vaulting similar to that of the two
lower floors of the south tower at Niort; all the buttresses
supporting the curtains are semicircular, as they also are at
Niort. We are therefore led to assume that Pouzauges,
Tiffauges and Chauvigny are of the same period as the great
neighbouring castle of Niort, and that they can therefore be
dated from the second half of the twelfth century.

Leaving the Poitou country we come now to Paris and to
the great tower of the Temple, long since disappeared. This
also was a square keep with round turrets at each corner.
There is ample evidence that it is of later date than that of
Niort; the walls have battered bases; the rooms on each of the
four floors have pointed vaulting, the ribs of the four panels
being supported on a central pillar. It was most probably
built in the early years of the thirteenth century, although
this is not certain for it could equally well date from the end
of the century.® Its connection with the Order of Templars
makes one wonder if this keep would not have certain features
reminiscent of the style of building in the Holy Land. Its
very simple rectangular plan, with four square towers at each
corner, is typical of the Byzantine fortresses, which were
copied in Syria from the middle of the twelfth century
onwards in the Frankish castles of Blanche-Garde (near
Jerusalem) and Giblet (south of Tripoli); but there is little
evidence that this plan was followed in the keeps, although
it is true that one side of the great rectangular tower at
Tortosa (built by the Templars) has square towers at each
corner. The interior design of the Temple is more noticeably
similar to that of the square keep at Saone in Syria, where
the rooms are ceiled by panels of ribbed vaulting supported
on a central pillar. But although these similarities are worth

1 Henri de Curzon (La maison du Temple de Paris, pp. 120-22) points out the difficulty in
dating this building.
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noting it would be unwise to exaggerate their importance.
(Fig. 3.

The great revival in military architecture was led, as one
would naturally expect, by the powerful kings and princes of
the time; by the sons of William the Conquerer and their
descendants, the Plantagenets, when they became dukes of
Normandy. These were the men who built all the most
typical twelfth-century fortified castles remaining today.

Gisors (Eure) was one of the frontier posts on the Epte
river dividing the Duchy of Normandy from the royal
domains of France. Its castle is still in a remarkable state of
preservation: the keep, the chemise and the bailey wall are
practically intact.

An examination of the masonry shows quite clearly the
successive stages of its construction; the stone facing of the
chemise, or the surrounding wall, and of the lower floors of
the keep is rather coarse, but it is much finer in the upper
floors of the keep, the buttresses, and in several doors. From
the three available sources of information it is possible to
throw some light on the somewhat obscure history of the
original building. The chronicler, Robert de Torigni (alias
Robert du Mont) records that William Rufus (1087-1100)
built Gisors in 1096, and that his brother, Henry I (1100-35)
made the castle impregnable by surrounding it by walls and
high towers (Williamus fecit . . . Gisorth . . . quod . . . frater ejus
Henricus . . . moenibus ambitum et turribus excelsis inexpugnabile
reddidit). Orderic Vital states that the castle was founded in
1097 and adds that William Rufus had it built by the en-
gineer, Robert de Belléme. Thirdly, Robert de Torigni refers
to Gisors in 1123 as being one of the castles founded by Henry
I Beauclerc (sic etiam fecit castellum Gisorz). In the Bulletin
monumental, 1958, M. Yves Bruand gives what would appear
to be the correct interpretation of these three documents.
From the absence of any towers on the keep or on the chemise,
he concludes that these were built by Robert de Belléme at
about 1096 or 1097. On the other hand the presence of towers
on the great bailey-wall leads him to conclude that this was
built by Henry I in 1123. In view of the relatively short
lapse of time between 1096-97 and 1123, the fact that the
stonework is of equally rough quality throughout does not



44 THE CHATEAUX OF FRANCE

invalidate his conclusions. In the light of this assumption we
can now make a closer study of the oldest existing sections
of the castle, that is to say, the lower two floors of the
keep (excluding the buttresses), the chemise wall (also
excluding the buttresses) and practically the whole of the outer
wall.

The keep and its chemise, erected by Robert de Belléme
on an artificial mound 6o feet high, are typical of the
eleventh-century castles of the period; they have no buttresses
and the interior of the keep has neither vaulting nor any stone
staircase. But they present certain new features that are
worth noting. In the first place the octagonal keep is one of
the earliest, perhaps the first of its kind at that time, and was
probably adopted to conform with the principles laid down
by Vitruvius (1. 5) to the effect that the circular or polygonal
keep was superior to the rectangular type. Seccndly, a
number of wooden beams are bedded in the rubble of the
chemise to reinforce the cementing of the masonry; this also
follows principles recommended by Vitruvius (1, 5) and
Philo of Byzantium (III, 3). Finally, the entrance is sited at
the point of junction of the keep and the chemise; a narrow,
barrel-vaulted passage cut in the thickness of the chemise
leads to the courtyard; the entrance to the keep (now walled
up) is at the point where this passage emerges. The entrance
therefore (contrary to usual practice at that time) was
actually on the ground floor, but was so deeply set in the
angle between the keep and the chemise wall that it was
practically impossible to force it. This was no doubt the first
example of an entrance protected by a narrow approaching
tunnel. Some years later the keep at Houdan was designed
on an amended version of the same principle.

It is worth noting that, in spite of these novel features, the
system of defence of Gisors castle in 1096 or 1097 showed no
real advance upon that of its predecessors; it relied entirely
upon the strength of the walls and the difficulty of access.
But the building of the outer wall in 1123 was to give a com-
pletely new character to the place.

This outer wall, of which the southern section has now
completely disappeared, surrounds the keep at a distance of
about one hundred yards. Robert de Torigni’s expression,
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turribus excelsis suggests that its towers stood high above the
curtain and could therefore cover it by their flanking fire;
this is the outstanding feature of the outer wall. Of all the
French castles still standing, Gisors was almost the first to
demonstrate the application of the great principle enumerated
by Vegetius (IV, 2) of bringing flanking fire on to the walls;
and it was followed at Gisors far more intelligently than at
Houdan. The space between the towers at Gisors is no greater
than the range of the weapons of the time, and they are open
at the gorges! in order to deny cover to any attackers who
might capture them. Having carried the first obstacle the
exhausted besiegers would therefore find themselves without
cover, completely dominated by the immense fire-power from
the keep. It is clear, therefore, that the science of fortification
was no longer static, it had become an organised system of
defence with its various parts properly co-ordinated and
mutually interdependent.

Most of the towers of the outer wall of 1123 were square.
On the west side three of them are reinforced externally by
solid masses of masonry of which some have the form of the
segment of a circle with the round edge to the front, while
others are triangular, the apex forming a pointed spur
facing outwards. This spur-shaped design has the double
advantage of fending off projectiles from siege engines and of
increasing the difficulty of sapping; but it also denotes the
application of one of the principles laid down by Philo of
Byzantium (1, 2 and 4) to the effect that polygon-shaped
towers should be so sited as to present a protruding angular
surface capable of deflecting projectiles. These protruding
spurs or prows became quite common on keeps of the late
twelfth century (notably at La Roche-Guyon, at Issoudun,
and at the Chateau-Gaillard); M. Ives Burand therefore
suggests that the reinforcement of the Gisors towers was a
later addition; he admits, however, that the stonework is of
the same coarse quality as that of the towers themselves. One
is tempted to make the somewhat rash suggestion that it was
Henry I (who died in 1185) who was responsible for this new

1 Two of these were closed later as a result of modifications made during the reign of
Phillip-Augustus (cf. Louis Regnier Quelques mots sur Gisors, p. 27).
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idea, and that he put it into practice for the first time at
Gisors.

After having been ceded to France for some years during
the Wars of the Roses, Gisors became a Norman castle again
in 1161, by the marriage of Henry II’s son with the daughter
of Louis VII. Robert de Torigni’s chronicles record that
Henry II also ordered the Normandy frontier posts to be
repaired and restored; particularly Gisors (et maxime Gisorz).
The great register of the Normandy Exchequer for the year
1180 and particularly for 1184 (AMémoires de la Société des
Antiquaires de Normandie, 1846, pp. 23, 34, 36 and 37) also
mentions a number of quite considerable sums expended on
Gisors, notably (in 1184) for the roofing of the keep, a lock
on the gate, and for other unspecified work carried out on the
chemise and the kitchen housed in it.

The work done on the castle by Henry IT Plantagenet was
in fact considerably more important than these few entries
would suggest. It is easily recognisable by the high quality of
the stonework, in sharp contrast to the rough masonry of the
older parts of the building. Two well-lit floors with semi-
circular window-openings were added to the keep, which at
the same time was strengthened by seven massive buttresses
of a much heavier type than the flat buttresses usually found
in Norman keeps; so thick, in fact, that a spiral staircase
could be cut in one of them between the first and second
floors.® Buttresses were also added to the chemise, although
they project but slightly; and it must have been at this time
that the existing gate was built. It was approached from the
bailey by a straight flight of steps between two walls following
the slope of the motte. One is immediately reminded of the
almost identical type of stairway leading to the keep at
Conisbrough in Yorkshire and attributed by Geo. T. Clark
to Henry ID’s stepbrother, Hamelin Plantagenet (1163-r1201).
Note in passing that it was very probably Prince Hamelin
who built the chapel of atonement dedicated to Saint Thomas
a Becket, who was canonised in 1173. The apse of this chapel
can still be seen, built into the curtain wall.

1 No connection with the wide vice built in the turret adjoining the keep; this was added
during the second half of the fourteenth century, if not later.
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Henry II’s influence is also clearly recognisable in two
additions to the bailey-wall. The first is the Devil’s Tower on
the north side, which has rib-vaulting on two floors. This
tower shows a great advance on those of 1123: it projects
boldly beyond the line of the curtain wall; its plan is semi-
circular; and the arrow-loops are ‘staggered’ from floor to
floor so as to avoid excessive strain on any one part of the
walls. The second is in the Governor’s Tower at the south-east
corner, which was already standing. The changes made here
are easily visible: the entrance passage, 15 feet long, has
barrel-vaulting in its western half (that is, on the inside) and
rib-vaulting on the other (that is, on the outside) half.
Eugene Pepin explains this very clearly by pointing out that
the inside half of the passage represents the original entrance
belonging to the curtain wall built in 1123; the outer half of
the passage lies against the Governor’s Tower, added later
to strengthen the whole building at this point; and the
Governor’s Tower has the same characteristics as the Devil’s
Tower: it is rounded on the outside, loopholed in the same
manner, with rib-vaulting on the first floor. The upper
floors and the door of the Tower, however, which have
pointed vaulting, were a later addition by Phillip-Augustus.

In contrast to Gisors, no records are available for a detailed
study of Niort (Deux Sevres). We must therefore be content
if we can place the castle in its correct historical context. Its
relatively later type rules out any possibility that it was built
very early in the twelfth century; on the other hand certain
details, such as the absence of plinths at the foot of the walls
and the narrow span of the Norman arches in the bays, pre-
vent any rash assumption that it was of much later date.
Niort is in the former province of Poitou, which formed part
of the domain of Eleanor of Aquitaine, married to Louis VII
in 1137, divorced in 1152 and married immediately after-
wards to Henry II Plantagenet, who became King of England
two years later and died in 1189. It must have been either
Louis VII or Henry II who built the present castle. But
Louis was no great builder of castles; and, indeed, according
to local tradition recorded in the eighteenth century, the
keep was built by the English and Eleanor lived in it. If so,
it must have been built by Henry II. A good deal could be
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said in support of this legend. Alfred Richard, in his Histoire
des comtes de Poitou, p. 176, tries to be more definite and puts
forward the quite unsubstantiated claim that the fortress was
built after Eleanor and her sons had rebelled against Henry
II in 1174. All we are prepared to say, in the light of the
evidence available, is that it seems reasonable to date the
building of Niort in the third quarter of the twelfth century.

The castle consisted of a keep standing in the middle of
a vast bailey. The bailey-wall has disappeared, but our
knowledge of it comes from a number of eighteenth-century
drawings, of which the most important is kept in the print-
room?! of the French National Library (Va 38b). This is a
large wash-tint measuring 214 inches by 31 inches, showing
the curtain with its sixteen towers, ten of which have open
gorges like those at Gisors; but they are an improvement on
the Gisors tower in that they are round on the outside,
whereas the towers at Niort are square.

The keep is surrounded by a moat, and has the almost
unique distinction of being double. It is formed by twin
towers joined by two curtains which originally enclosed a
courtyard. In the fifteenth century this courtyard was roofed
in to provide living quarters. The north tower collapsed in
1749 and was at once rebuilt; but the foundations and the
lower courses were preserved, and the masons’ marks are
seen to be the same as those on the twin tower; a proof that
both were built at the same time.

The initial advantage of the double keep was that if one
tower were captured the defence could still be carried on in
the other. We are inclined to think, however, that it was part
of a more subtle and ingenious plan derived from the
principle of the double gate, briefly referred to by Vegetius
(IV, 4) and well known in classical times; the so-called black
gate at Tréves is a good example. Two powerful towers
are joined together by a double line of buildings with an open
courtyard between them. Each building has a gate leading
from the outside into the courtyard. If one gate is forced the
attackers enter the courtyard but are held up at the second
gate. The portcullis of the first gate is then dropped behind

1 Cabinet des Estampes de Paris.

1v The Castle, La Bréde
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them and the men shut inside the courtyard come under
heavy attack from all sides. Similarly at Niort, any attackers
foolhardy enough to force their way into the open courtyard
would find themselves in a trap and be wiped out by the fire
from the two keeps. It would appear that the entrance to the
castle was originally a postern gate in the eastern curtain
at the height of the first floor, where a turret flanks the wall.
Access to the two keeps was along the curtain, and one
entered the keeps — as was usual — at first-floor level.

The keeps themselves are square towers with four round
turrets; possibly the first of their kind. They are reinforced,
as at Loches, with semicircular buttresses applied at the
middle of each facade. A strikingly novel feature is the addi-
tion of stone machicolations on the north and south sides of
the southern (that is, the older) tower in the form of wide,
keyed-in arches projecting slightly beyond the wall between
the centre buttress and the corner turrets. Machicoulis of
this type were first used in the Holy Land. They make their
appearance at Saone in the first half of the twelfth century
in the form of an arch over a gateway, following — so it is
said — a principle laid down by Vegetius (IV, 4). A group of
three appears a little later on the north-west prow of the
Krac des Chevaliers. M. Paul Deschamps (Crac des Chevaliers,
p. 279) takes the view that they ‘belong to the earlier
Frankish parts of the castle’, that is to say, to the middle of
the twelfth century, if not earlier. In the west, the arch-type
of machicolation is found at the castle of Ghent, erected by
Phillip of Alsace in 1180, at Lucheux (Somme) dating,
according to M. Paul Deschamps, from 1192 (Congrés
archéologique, 1936, p. 264), and at Chateau-Gaillard, which
was built very late in the twelfth century. It is very probable,
therefore, that those at Niort were the first seen in France.

When Richard Coeur de Lion returned from the Third
Crusade in 1194, he found Phillip-Augustus in possession of
the places and lands ceded to him by King John. By the
treaty of Issoudun (December 5th, 1195) Richard agreed to
ratify the cession of Gisors, but he set to work immediately to
compensate for its loss by building Chateau-Gaillard at Les
Andelys (Eure) in order to cover the approaches to Rouen
(see frontispiece).

v The Castle, Tarascon D
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The chronicler John Brampton claims that this fortress,
which was considered to be the greatest of all Norman castles,
was completed in one year. According to Brampton, Richard
was so delighted that he exclaimed: ‘a wonderful girl indeed!
—and but twelve months old!” Sidney Toy, however,
(History of Fortification, p. 128) points out that Brampton’s
chronicles are certainly not of an earlier date than the middle
of the fourteenth century and are therefore unreliable. What
is more, the great roll of the Normandy Exchequer for 1198
(Stapleton edition, II, pp. 309-10) shows that work on
Chateau-Gaillard was well in hand two years before; it
must therefore have begun in 1196. Mr. Sidney Toy even
questions the possibility of the keep having been completed
during Richard’s lifetime. It is certainly strange that when
Phillip-Augustus attacked the castle in 1204, its defenders
fled as soon as the last remaining curtain wall was forced,
and made no attempt at a last stand in the keep itself.

Marcel Dieulafoy, in Mémoires Académie des Inscriptions,
1898, considers that the building of Chateau-Gaillard opened
a new era in the art of fortification; if our reading of him is
correct, Mr. Sidney Toy (p. 128), is of the same opinion. On
page 344, Marcel Dieulafoy writes: “We witness the dramatic
appearance of an entirely new principle, foreign in its con-
ception, but enormously effective; and its origin, I submit, is
to be sought in Syria and Palestine.” We find it difficult to
accept this view and would suggest that Chateau-Gaillard
marks the end of an era, not the beginning of a new one. In
the preceding pages we have tried to show the steady
development of ideas in military architecture from the
beginning of the twelfth century onwards as the result of the
knowledge gleaned from the ancient writers during the
Crusades by the military commanders of the West. Detailed
study of Chateau-Gaillard will show that most of its charac-
teristic features had already appeared in earlier French
castles, and one is forced to the conclusion that Chateau-
Gaillard was the final expression of all the progress made in
the design and construction of fortified castles during the
Norman period.

Its site is similar to that of Loches. The fortress stands on a
promontory with precipitous slopes on all sides but one,
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where it is connected by an isthmus to the line of hills of which
it forms part. But whereas the keep at Loches stands on the
isthmus itself and is the sole protection of the vast bailey
covering the inaccessible plateau behind it, the keep at
Chéateau-Gaillard is at the extreme end of the promontory;
it is, therefore, the last retreat of the defence system, and can
only be reached when a whole series of co-ordinated defence-
works covering it has been captured. This plan was not,
however, entirely original; it was used, notably, at La Roche-
Guyon (Seine-et-Oise), which is on the Seine about twenty
to twenty-five miles above Les Andelys. La Roche-Guyon is
a little older than Chateau-Gaillard, and has a number of
similar features that are worth considering.

In front of the castle itself a wide ditch was cut through
the isthmus; beyond this was a defensive outwork with wall-
towers, covering the fortress on the one side exposed to
possible attack. Chinon stands on a site similar to that of La
Roche Guyon, and was built (according to Cougny and
Eugéne Pepin) by Henry 11 Plantagenet. On exactly the same
principle as at La Roche-Guyon, the St. George fort pro-
tected Chinon on the plateau side. At both places — the one
in Normandy and the other in Touraine — the only means of
access to the outer fort was by crossing the moat and entering
by a gate on the inner side of the fort. Guillaume le Breton,
describing the siege of Chateau-Gaillard in 1204 (Philippide
VII, verses 790—g1), tells us that the approach to this outer
fort at Chateau-Gaillard was by a pulley-type drawbridge
over the moat (Funibus abruptus poniis versatilis axem inversum

. . Se sternere cogit).

The general plan of the castle itself is remarkably similar
to that of La Roche-Guyon. The three main structures, keep,
chemise and bailey-wall, lie on the same axis, and are
strategically interdependent. Although its exact date is not
known, La Roche-Guyon has certain features suggesting that
it is older than Chéateau-Gaillard; no provision is made for
flanking the curtains, and knowledge of machicolation seems
to have been lacking.

Chateau-Gaillard has a far more comprehensive system of
defence. The towers on the outer bailey project to an unusual
degree beyond the line of the wall. The ultimate stronghold,
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consisting of the keep and the chemise, is protected by a moat.
The plan of the chemise is also unusual; it consists of a line
of semicircular towers set so closely together that the curtains
between them are but 3 feet long. It will be remembered,
however, that this apparently new feature is merely a develop-
ment of the type of curtain we noticed on the keeps at
Etampes and Ambleny.

Finally, the keep itself is a round tower with walls 12
feet thick and a prow-shaped projection like the keep at La
Roche-Guyon. Round its crest were machicolations of the
keyed-arch type supported on buttresses embedded in a stone
plinth reinforcing the base of the walls. Similar plinths were
used in conjunction with machicolations on castles of earlier
date than Chateau-Gaillard; mention has already been
made of them at the Krac des Chevaliers and at Lucheux.
It would appear that the original purpose of the plinth was
to increase the effect of machicolation; which supports
Brutails’ suggestion (Précis d’archéologie, pp. 235-36) that
the object of the plinth was not so much to counteract
sapping as to deflect projectiles thrown down from the walls
above. Marcel Dieulafoy (p. 332) remarks that the upper
part of the plinth of the keep at Chéteau-Gaillard is concave
and the lower part oblique; the effect therefore would be to
deflect projectiles into a fan-shaped trajectory.

Our study of this castle should lead us to the conclusion
already suggested that Chateau-Gaillard is the final embodi-
ment of all the progress made in fortification during the
twelfth century; it is the crowning example of a fortified
castle of the Norman era.

4 | The Phillip-Augustus Formula
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